FILED
AUGUST 31, 2012
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 30219-9-III

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION THREE

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER FOLEY,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE
STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR KITTITAS COUNTY

The Honorable Scott R. Sparks, Judge

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

DANA M. NELSON
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC
1908 E Madison Street
Seattle, WA 98122
(206) 623-2373

B. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The court's admission of propensity evidence violated Foley's right to a fair trial.

2. The court erred in instructing the jury on first and second degree manslaughter.

3. The prosecutor committed misconduct by offering inadmissible opinion evidence, over defense counsel's objection, and in violation of the court's pretrial ruling.

4. To the extent defense counsel contributed to the error by failing to propose a limiting instruction, Foley received ineffective assistance of counsel.

Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error

1. Did the trial court err in admitting evidence of the 4 x 4 incident, where the state failed to prove it occurred by a

preponderance of the evidence, and where the potential for prejudice far outweighed any probative value of the evidence?

2. Did the trial court err in instructing the jury on first and second degree manslaughter as a lesser included offense of second degree murder, where there was no evidence supporting an inference that only a reckless killing occurred?

3. Did prosecutorial misconduct deprive Foley of his right to a fair trial, where the state played a portion of Foley's interview with police – in violation of the court's in limine ruling – during which the lead detective asserted Foley's family members believed him to be guilty?

4. Did Foley receive ineffective assistance of counsel where the court indicated it would give a limiting instruction to jurors regarding inadmissible evidence that was proffered by the state through the recorded interview, but defense counsel failed to take the court up on its offer?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

1. Court's Ruling Admitting ER 404(b) Evidence

On March 23, 2011, the Kittitas county prosecutor charged Christopher Foley with second degree murder of his brother in law, Russel Ray, allegedly occurring between June 21 and June 22,

2010. CP 1, 111. Foley and Ray are respectively married to Karen Foley and Christine Ray, who are sisters.²

RP 517-18, 566.

As indicated in the introduction, the state's case against Foley was entirely circumstantial. RP 316. As part of these circumstances, the state sought to introduce three prior instances of alleged misconduct it theorized established Foley's motive to kill Ray. Supp. CP (sub. no. 98, Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11); RP 145.

At one time, Foley and Ray were business partners in a construction company. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 102, Memorandum in Support of Admission of Evidence under ER 404(b), 6/7/11). Due to the declining housing market, however, the company stopped being profitable and eventually dissolved. CP 57. According to the state, Ray was obsessed with the company's tools after the company dissolved, particularly how they were divided. Ray reportedly felt he had been cheated. RP 57-58. According to the state, Foley's prior instances of misconduct revolved around disputes about the tools. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 102, Memorandum

² To avoid confusion, individuals sharing the same last names will be referred to by their first names.

in Support of Admission of Evidence under ER 404(b), 6/7/11); RP 149, 155.

In the first instance, the state alleged Foley punched Ray at a job site in May 2009, after the two reportedly argued about the tools. The state proffered to prove the existence of this incident with testimony from Bob Collignon, Karen's and Christine's father, who was at the job site at the time of the purported punch, and testimony from Brink Evans, Jr., who was also present at the time. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 98, Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11); Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 99, Affidavit in Support of Use of 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11); RP 147-48.

In the second instance, the state alleged the two got into a heated verbal exchange in May 2009, about the tools, at an Ellensburg gas station. Supp. CP (sub. no. 98, Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11). The state proffered to prove the existence of this incident through Foley's statements to police. RP 160. During an interview with detectives following Ray's disappearance, Foley admitted baiting Ray at the gas station, but insisted his intent was to resolve the disagreement. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 208, State's Argument and Affidavit in Response, 9/9/11), Appendix A (transcript of interview), pp. 62-63.

In the final instance, the state sought to introduce evidence that in May 2010, Foley caught Ray snooping around in his shop and hit him with a 4 x 4 piece of wood. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 98, Notice of Intent to Use 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11). The state proffered it would prove the existence of this incident through Ray's brother, Mark Ray, as well as Mark Emmert, a co-worker of Foley's. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 99, Affidavit in Support of Use of 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11); RP 146, 161.

According to the state, Ray disclosed the incident to his brother during a telephone call. However, the defense objected that Mark's testimony as to his brother's supposed statement constituted inadmissible hearsay. CP 79, 114; RP 146. The state argued the statement fit within the exception for statements against interest. RP 162, 281, 319.

According to the state, Foley described the incident to a co-worker, Mark Emmert. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 99, Affidavit in Support of Use of 404(b) Evidence, 6/7/11). However, during his interview with detectives, Foley denied encountering Ray in his shop, let alone hitting him with a 4 by 4. Foley acknowledged he saw a "silhouette" near the fence line the two families shared, but merely assumed – without making contact – that it was Ray. Supp.

CP __ (sub. no. 208, State's Argument and Affidavit in Response, 9/9/11), Appendix A, pp. 60-62, 98.

Regarding what Emmert reportedly told to the detectives, Foley asserted that people have a tendency to exaggerate or embellish what they've heard. Id., pp. 100; RP 274.

But perhaps most significantly, Ray himself denied anything happened in Foley's shop at the time the incident was alleged to have occurred. Christine recalled seeing Ray with a black eye at the time of the alleged incident, but Ray told her he sustained the injury at work. RP 279. It appears Ray also told his mother-in-law the injury was work-related. RP 320, 323. Moreover, Ray told his nephew Jorry Ray he just "woke up that way." RP 279.

In addition to arguing the incidents were not admissible under ER 404(b) as improper propensity evidence, the defense argued the state could not meet its burden to prove the 4 x 4 incident actually occurred. CP 75-79, 114, 164, 274.

The court found the incidents were sufficiently proven and admissible under ER 404(b) as evidence of motive, opportunity and lack of mistake or accident. CP 122-125; RP 153-55, 160, 167-68. In that same vein, the court denied the defense motion to exclude Mark Ray's testimony as inadmissible hearsay. CP 126-131, 323.

2. Court's Ruling Instructing the Jury on Manslaughter over Defense Objection

Ray was ultimately convicted of first degree manslaughter, of which the jury was instructed as a lesser included offense of second degree murder, over Ray's objection. CP 192-94, 203; RP 1691; BRP 35-37; see also Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 190, Plaintiff's Proposed Instructions, 8/17/11). During the instructions conference, defense counsel confirmed he and Foley had discussed the potential for lesser offenses and agreed upon an all-or-nothing approach. BRP 36; see e.g. State v. Grier, 171 Wn.2d 17, 42, 246 P.3d 1260 (2011) (all or nothing approach a legitimate strategy).

Nevertheless, the state posited manslaughter instructions were appropriate and supported by the evidence:

I'll just say for the record I think the evidence of the case shows clearly we have a homicide. I think that reasonable minds, based upon the evidence because we're drawing upon a lot of inferences from the circumstances, reasonable minds on the jury could make a conclusion that wasn't intentional but it was a reckless act based upon the scene, based upon the knowledge of the relationships between the parties, um, and at this point I think we certainly the factual basis to suggest that could find a Manslaughter conviction.

BRP 36. Without further discussion, the court resolved it would give both reckless and negligent homicide instructions. BRP 37; see also CP 191-97.

3. Motion for New Trial Based on Prosecutorial Misconduct

Following the jury's verdict, the defense filed a motion for a new trial (CP 204-258), arguing inter alia that the prosecutor committed misconduct by failing to redact a portion of Foley's recorded interview with detectives in which the detectives asserted that Karen and Christine did not believe Foley's version of events. CP 206-207. As pointed out by the defense, opinion evidence on guilt was excluded pursuant to the defense's motions in limine. CP 82 (MIL 6), 207; RP 184 (MIL 6 granted).

In response, the state disputed the video included any improper opinions on guilt and attached a transcript of the recording. Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 208, State's Argument and Affidavit in Response, 9/9/11). Significantly, the transcript included the following dialogue:

Higashiyama: Have you talked to your wife?

Foley: ... California.

Higashiyama: ... about where Russel might've gone?

Foley: She thinks he's dead.

Higashiyama: Right. Why would she think that?

Foley: She's a woman. I have no idea, she has her feeling.

Supp. CP ___ (sub. no. 208, State's Argument and Affidavit in Response to Defendant's CrR 7.4 and 7.5 Motions, 9/9/11), Appendix A, pp. 73.

According to the transcript, Higashiyama later returned to the family's beliefs as to what happened to Ray:

Higashiyama: So you know the family's going to be very upset over this, right? Because some family members, not all of 'em are pointing a finger but they're pointing at, at you, but just because of the relationship.

Foley: Yeah.

Higashiyama: Kay, we're not pointing the finger at anybody cause we don't know.

Foley: Yeah. No, that's fine.

Higashiyama: So you're okay with the family and holding that shadow over your head?

Foley: Yeah I'm fine with it.

Higashiyama: Okay.

Foley: I mean they still talk to you anyways.

Higashiyama: Mmhm (yes).

Foley: . But yeah, I, I can live with it.

Supp. CP __ (sub. no. 208, State's Argument and Affidavit in Response to Defendant's CrR 7.4 and 7.5 Motions, 9/9/11), Appendix A, pp. 95-96.

At sentencing, the state reiterated without argument that there was no basis to grant a new trial. RP 1686. The court stated simply: "I agree. You need to prepare an order, Mr. Sander [prosecutor]." RP 1686.

Interestingly, the court's careless rejection of the motion for a new trial was not in sync with its previous warnings and comments to the prosecutor about his tortured decision to play the recording.

Discussion of the video began during the defense motions in limine. RP 179-181. The defense moved to exclude comments concerning Foley's exercise of his constitutional rights, including "any evidence that the defendant was read his rights, exercised his right to remain silent or any evidence that he retained an attorney." RP 80.

The prosecutor opposed the motion, only insofar as Foley's exercise of the right to an attorney was concerned. RP 181. In light of the recorded interview, for which Foley's attorney was present, the prosecutor argued it would be difficult to omit

altogether any reference to Foley's exercise of the right to counsel. RP 181. Nonetheless, the prosecutor affirmed he would not improperly comment Foley's exercise of the right to counsel. RP 181. Based on this representation, the court denied the motion "for now." RP 181.

Additionally, the need to redact the DVD was brought up by defense counsel just before opening statements. RP 497. The defense insisted that instead of "fast forwarding or muting" the offending portions, the DVD itself should be altered. RP 497. The court agreed the DVD, if admitted as an exhibit, needed to be in the same format or condition it would be given to the jury when it retired to deliberate. RP 497.

The prosecutor responded he would investigate further, but believed the "camera, sound, audio recording" system used "doesn't allow for editing." RP 498. In other words, "there is no way to split cut physically." RP 498. But the prosecutor noted alternatively, "the transcript would be – that's easily redacted." RP 499.

When the subject of the hour-and-a-half long video was discussed again, the prosecutor proposed he could play it in its entirety for the sake of completeness (RP 1138), or he could stop

the video for pertinent parts and fast-forward through the parts that needed to be redacted, such as a polygraph reference. RP 1138-39. The court and parties resolved to discuss it further later. RP 1141.

During detective Bannister's testimony about the recorded interview, defense counsel objected the state's presentation of the interview evidence was "confusing" and "awkward." RP 1393. The prosecutor responded that presentation of snippets of the recording was not a viable option, because the video could not be physically altered. RP 1396, 1398. Because the transcript contained "inaudible" portions, the prosecutor asserted it was not a good option. RP 1396. The state therefore asked the court to revisit its decision that the video could not be admitted unless it was in the condition as would be needed to go back to the jury. RP 1398.

As the prosecutor argued: "if the state screws up and [in]admissible evidence comes in by error there will be a problem." RP 1398. In that instance, the prosecutor further argued the "problem" could be fixed with an instruction. RP 1398.

At this point, defense counsel objected that the erroneous admission of inadmissible evidence – excluded by virtue of the court's pretrial rulings – could be so easily cured. RP 1399.

Moreover, defense counsel noted, "We can have a completely err[or] free introduction of the evidence." RP 1399.

The court granted the state's request to reconsider and ruled the state would be allowed to present the video in the manner it suggested. RP 1399. The court resolved the video would not go back to the jury, but would be treated more like a witness statement. RP 1400. Ominously, however, the court warned the prosecutor: "But I'll let you play the video with the understanding that if something comes in we'll have a mistrial." RP 1400.

Regardless, when the prosecutor commenced to play the video during Detective Higashiyama's testimony, it failed to skip the part where the detectives informed Foley of his constitutional rights. RP 1635-37. Defense counsel immediately objected. RP 1637. The court agreed the warnings were not relevant, were not "helpful to the jury" and were partially privileged. RP 1638. The court reminded the prosecutor it had "required the state to come up with a way to make this easy and that doesn't work, right?" RP 1638.

Defense counsel interjected there were many references in the recording that were inadmissible. RP 1639. The prosecutor essentially complained the state had limited options regarding the recording. RP 1638.

After further complaints by the prosecutor that the video was unwieldy, the court resolved:

Create a case against him to impeach. That's the whole purpose of what this trial is about. I've never seen anything like this. All right. You can – we'll fast forward it past advisement of rights and we'll start there and you can play other than the circumstance.

RP 1644.

The prosecutor played the remainder of the DVD. RP 1645, 1647-68. The court later criticized him for wasting everyone's time by playing the lengthy video, most of which was irrelevant. RP 1659.

The video was brought up once more before the jury was instructed, when the defense sought to have the court instruct the jury to disregard the video. BRP 42. The court indicated it would not instruct the jury to disregard the video entirely, but would instruct the jury to disregard portions of it. BRP 42. Defense counsel indicated frustration, on grounds it would be difficult to parse out which parts should be disregarded. BRP 42. The defense noted that the recording contained statements attributed to other people opining on Foley's guilt, which was one of the reasons the defense argued its admission in the first place. BRP 42.

When the court indicated the defense had “a good point,” the prosecutor disagreed and analogized to “pepper jack cheese:”

Right. Well ... I guess I disagree that it is a good point. It's taking to be arguing that pepper jack cheese you should ignore the pepper. Well it affects the flavor of the entire product so this is the exhibit, all the comments are in there, yes may or not have been right on point, um, but that was the, that was the context in which he was giving his statements.

BRP 43. In any event, the prosecutor was “not sure exactly how it is spelled out in the video that somebody else thinks she [sic] did it.” BRP 43.

The court resolved it would not give an instruction at the time, but opined that, “if Mr. Foley’s convicted then he would have something to appeal that’s for sure.” BRP 43.

At sentencing, the parties addressed that part of the defense motion for a new trial not concerning the video. CP 206; RP 1685. Afterward, the state argued there was no basis for a new trial, and the court agreed. RP 1686.

4. Trial Testimony

At the time of Ray’s disappearance, Ray and Christine lived at 241 Look Road in Ellensburg. RP 566. Christine’s sister Karen lived with Foley at 1517 Sanders Road in Ellensburg. RP 940. Look and Sanders Road intersect and the sisters’ property lines are

such that Karen's back pasture (north of her house) abuts Christine's back pasture (west of her house). RP 579, 940. The properties are essentially kitty-corner, with a house in between on the corner where Sanders and Look intersect. RP 578-79, 941.

Christine and Karen's parents, Bob and Connie Collignon, lived at 291 Look Road, property adjacent and to the north of Ray's. RP 580-81, 1284. Theirs was a tight knit family. RP 570-77, 754, 1286-1291.

In June 2010, most of the family had gone to California for a wedding. RP 599, 1299. Ray had stayed behind to work and tend the animals, however. RP 600. For similar reasons, Foley returned home early on Monday June 21, 2010. RP 1299.

That was the day Ray supposedly disappeared, according to the state's theory. ARP 27-28. Kevin Johnson was the last known person to see Ray. RP 922. Johnson, who works for a tow truck company, testified that he received a call from Ray shortly after 5:00 p.m., Monday evening. RP 672-73. Ray's truck had broken down on the west side of Snoqualmie Pass coming home from work (RP 673).

In November 2009, Ray had gone to work for his nephew, Jorry Ray who ran a construction site in Puyallup.³ RP 595, 599, 630, 690, 695. Ray did not care too much for Jorry. RP 630, 633-34. In fact, immediately preceding Ray's disappearance, he and Jorry had a falling out. RP 695-97, 764. Ray had been staying with Jorry on the Westside during the week, but told Christine he had "worn out [his] welcome" and needed to find a different place to stay immediately. RP 634. Within one day, Ray moved his travel trailer to a friend's property to stay during the week instead of Jorry's. RP 634, 1316.

Moreover, the supposed day of his disappearance, Ray was livid with Jorry. RP 606, 639, 1315. While broken down on the side of the highway, Ray spoke to his father-in-law (who was still in California) over the phone. RP 1301-1302. Collignon testified Ray believed Jorry directed one of the laborers on the job site to put bad diesel in his truck, thereby causing his truck to break down. RP 1302, 1315. According to Collignon, Ray was so fed up with Jorry

³ In addition to their official work, Ray and Jorry were also involved in a joint enterprise involving the removal and recycling of scrap metal from the job site. RP 635, 768. According to Christine, it was without the owner's permission. RP 637. The two reportedly split the cash proceeds. RP 636, 768. Jorry admitted "salvage" is "big business." RP 783.

he was thinking about taking a few days off to look for a different job. RP 1302, 1315-16.

Jorry testified he, too, had received a call from Ray that evening, but claimed that Ray was mad at himself for putting the bad diesel in his truck. RP 702.⁴ Apparently, there were tanks of old diesel fuel on the job site used to run the generators. RP 698. Jorry claimed Ray had an arrangement with the company people to use the diesel for his truck. RP 700. Jorry testified Ray told him he likely would not be at work on Tuesday in order to have the truck repaired, but would return on Wednesday. RP 702.

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