FILED
October 30, 2012
Court of Appeals
Division III
State of Washington

NO. 30219-9-III

COURT OF APPEALS
STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION III

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Plaintiff/Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER FOLEY

Defendant/Appellant.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

GREGORY L. ZEMPEL
Prosecuting Attorney

PAUL R. SANDER,
WSBA# 35250
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Attorney for Appellant

Kittitas County Prosecutor's Office
205 W. 5th Street
Ellensburg, Washington 98926
Telephone: 509-962-7520

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

ARGUMENT

1. Admission of ER 404(b) evidence was reasonable and based upon the correct application of law.

Prior to trial, the State provided notice that it intended to present evidence pertaining to three specific acts which related to a physical altercation between the two men in May 2009, a verbal altercation between the two men in May 2009 and a physical

altercation between the two men involving a 4x4 board in May 2010. CP 279-281.

The State's notice filing was accompanied by an affidavit and a memorandum of support for the admission of these incidents under ER 404(b) for the specific purpose of helping to establish motive, opportunity, intent, identity and the absence of mistake or accident.

These incidents were a small but important part of the overall case presented to the jury that Appellant had killed the victim in that they connected the dispute over tools to violence between the two men. The trial judge recognized this in one of the several hearings on this matter when he observed "it's the tools that's driving this whole thing." RP 156.

Interpretation of an evidentiary rule is a question of law, which the appellate courts review de novo. State v. DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). The standard of review for a trial court's ruling on ER 404(b) evidence is for abuse of discretion. State v. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d 168, 174, 163 P.3d 786 (2007). An abuse of discretion occurs if the court's decision is manifestly unreasonable or rests on untenable grounds. State v. Dixon, 159 Wn.2d 65, 75-76, 147 P.3d 991 (2006). A decision is

manifestly unreasonable if the court adopted a position no reasonable person would take. State v. Griffin, 173 Wn.2d 467, 473, 268 P.3d 924 (2012). A decision rests on untenable grounds when the trial court applies the wrong legal standard or relies on unsupported facts. Id.

ER 404(b) forbids admitting evidence of a person's other crimes, wrongs, or acts to prove a person's character to show that the person acted in conformity therewith. State v. Kipp ___ Wn.App. ___, 286 P.3d 68, 72 (2012). However, ER 404(b) does not forbid such "other acts" evidence admitted for other purposes, such as to establish motive, opportunity, intent, identity and the absence of mistake or accident. These were the precise purposes for submitting evidence of the aforementioned incidents that occurred between Appellant and the victim prior to Appellant killing the victim on June 21 or 22, 2010.

In order for "other acts" evidence to be properly admitted under ER 404(b), it "must be '(1) proved by a preponderance of the evidence, (2) admitted for the purpose of proving a common plan or scheme, (3) relevant to prove an element of the crime charged or rebut a defense, and (4) more probative than prejudicial.' "

DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 17 (quoting State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 852, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)).

This analysis must be conducted on the record and if the evidence is admitted, a limiting instruction must be given to the jury. Foxhoven, 161 Wn.2d at 175. In this case, there were at least three distinct points where this evidence was considered by the court on the record. RP 144-167, 273-282, and 319-323. The following limiting instruction was given to the jury:

Instruction Number Eight – Certain evidence has been admitted in this case for only a limited purpose. This evidence consists of an allegation regarding an incident where Christopher Foley was alleged to have punched Russel Ray at a job site in north Ellensburg, an allegation regarding an incident where Christopher Foley was alleged to have a verbal altercation with Russel Ray at a gas station about tools, and an allegation regarding an incident where Christopher Foley was alleged to have confronted Russel Ray in Christopher Foley's shop and struck Russel Ray with a 4x4. You may only consider this testimony for the purpose of establishing motive, opportunity, intent or absence of mistake or accident. You must not consider the evidence for any other purpose. Any discussion of the evidence during your deliberations must be consistent with this limitation. BRP 53

Appellant only claims error by the trial court admitting evidence of the third incident, which involved Appellant striking the victim with a 4x4 piece of lumber. The particular error complained of is that the State did not prove by a preponderance of the

evidence that the incident happened and because its prejudicial effect far outweighed its probative value.

- a. The State proved by a preponderance of the evidence that the 4x4 incident happened.

A trial court is not required to conduct an evidentiary hearing prior to admitting “other acts” evidence where an offer of proof is presented by the state. State v. Kilgore, 147 Wn.2d 288, 294-295, 53 P.3d 974 (2002).

The State met its burden initially at a hearing on June 10, 2011, in the form of a lengthy proffer accompanied by an involved discussion between the court and both parties. RP 144-168. This was followed by another hearing on the matter on July 29, 2011, wherein the Appellant presented a counter-proffer and again was accompanied by an involved discussion between the court and both parties. RP 273-283.

At both of those hearings and even again at a third argument on the first day of trial, the trial court consistently applied the correct legal standard, relied upon supported facts and adopted a position that a reasonable person would take: the trial court found by a preponderance of the evidence this incident occurred and entered an order accordingly. RP 282, 496.

- b. The trial court appropriately found that the 4x4 incident was more probative than prejudicial.

In determining whether the proposed “other acts” evidence is more probative than prejudicial, the appellate court looks at the records as a whole to determine whether the trial court articulated the balancing of these two aspects. State v. Powell, 126 Wn.2d 244, 264-265, 893 P.2d 615 (1995).

To use prior acts for a non-propensity based theory, there must be some similarity among the facts of the acts themselves. State v. Wade, 98 Wn.App. 328, 335, 989 P.2d 576 (1999). It is the fact of the prior acts, not the propensity of the actor, that establish the permissive inference admissible under ER 404(b). Id.

Numerous times during the initial pretrial proceeding on June 10, 2011, where “other acts” evidence was first considered, the trial court demonstrated its balancing of the probative and prejudicial nature of this evidence. The conclusion of the court was that all three “other acts” incidents pertained to the ongoing dispute between Appellant and the victim over tools, that they were probative of motive, opportunity, intent or absence of mistake or accident, and that they were not unfairly prejudicial. RP 154, 160 and 166, CP 122-125.

This is particularly apparent in the record when the trial court was balancing the probative and prejudicial aspects of the 4x4 board incident, when it stated “This again just goes right back to the motive or intent or absence of mistake is (sic) sure this comes in ... Yeah, it’s hard for Mr. Foley that this evidence would come in because it might help prove that he struck Mr. Ray. But that’s not the standard. Standard is whether it’s unfair ... But I don’t think that it is unfair prejudice now. RP 166-167.

2. Sufficient evidence existed to support instructing the jury on lesser included charges.

First and second degree manslaughter are lesser included offenses of intentional murder, and instruction should be given to the jury when supported by the facts. State v. Berlin, 133 Wn.2d 541, 947 P.2d 700 (1997).

First degree manslaughter is committed when a person recklessly causes the death of another person. RCW 9A.32.060(1)(a). Second degree manslaughter is committed when a person, with criminal negligence, causes the death of another person. RCW 9A.32.070.

At the State’s request, the trial court gave the lesser included jury instructions for first and second degree manslaughter,

complete with definitions of reckless and criminal negligence. RP 54-55.

“If the evidence would permit a jury to rationally find a defendant guilty of the lesser offense and acquit him of the greater, a lesser included offense instruction should be given.” State v. Warden, 133 Wn.2d 559, 563, 947 P.2d 708 (1997) citations omitted.

“When determining if the evidence at trial was sufficient to support the giving of an instruction, the appellate court is to view the supporting evidence in the light most favorable to the party that requested the instruction.” State v. Fernandez-Medina, 141 Wn.2d 448, 455-456, 6 P.3d 1150 (2000) citations omitted. A trial court “must consider all of the evidence that is presented at trial when it is deciding whether or not an instruction should be given.” Id.

Throughout the entire trial, including the State’s opening and closing, there was a repeated theme of anger and spontaneous violence between Appellant and the victim due to the dispute about tools. This is especially seen in the context of the “other acts” evidence which was presented to the jury to prove motive, opportunity, intent or absence of mistake or accident.

Ultimately, the question on appeal is whether the evidence presented in this case supported an inference that the lesser crime was committed, e.g. could the jury have rationally found that Appellant lacked the intent to kill and yet find that he acted recklessly or negligently in causing the victim's death. Warden, 133 Wn.2d at 564. Indeed, the jury in this case concluded that while the State had proven that Appellant had killed the victim, it was not proven that the killing was done intentionally but only recklessly and the jury returned a guilty verdict of first degree manslaughter. CP 203.

3. The State did not commit prosecutorial misconduct by not redacting portions of the video of Appellant's interview where detectives say that Appellant's wife thought the victim was dead and that some members of Appellant's family thought he was involved in victim's disappearance.

Appellant next complains of the State presenting impermissible opinion testimony by not redacting certain portions of the recorded interview that was played to the jury. Appellant's bases for this complaint are factually deficient.

Prosecutorial misconduct may deprive a defendant of a fair trial, and only a fair trial is a constitutional trial. State v. Charlton, 90 Wn.2d 657, 64, 585 P.2d 142 (1978). "[I]n order to prevail on an

allegation of prosecutorial misconduct, a defendant must show both improper conduct and prejudicial effect.” State v. Bin Thach, 126 Wn.App. 297, 316, 106 P.3d 782 (2005), citing State v. Pirtle, 127 Wn.2d 628, 672, 904 P.2d 245 (1995), cert denied, 518 U.S. 1026, 116 S.Ct. 2568, 135 L.Ed.2d 1084 (1996).

A defendant establishes prejudice only if there is a substantial likelihood the instances of misconduct affected the jury’s verdict, thereby depriving the defendant of his right to a fair trial. State v. Evans, 96 Wn.2d 1, 5, 633 P.2d 83 (1981).

Appellant first refers the court back to trial counsel’s CrR 7.4 and 7.5 post-conviction motions which included an allegation that the portion of the recorded interview that was played to the jury included assertions by the detectives that the Appellant’s wife and the victim’s wife did not believe Appellant’s version of events. CP 204-258. However, the State refuted such an allegation by demonstrating that no such assertion was made. CP 322-323. The trial court agreed. RP 1686.

Next Appellant points to two sections of the recording as being impermissible opinion testimony where detectives discuss with Appellant why his wife believed the victim to be dead and that some of Appellant’s family members are “pointing fingers” at

Appellant as being involved with the victim's disappearance. Appellant's Brief, pages 11-13.

Appellant's ensuing argument is that the State flagrantly and ill-intentionally violated the trial court's pretrial order excluding testimony as to opinions of guilt. To the contrary, the State did not violate the court's order due to the simple fact that the complained of portions of the video are not impermissible opinion testimony.

Appellant correctly states that it would be improper to submit testimony at trial that someone believed Appellant was guilty and listed two cases as examples that supported this proposition. State v. Dolan, 118 Wn.App. 323, 73 P.3d 1011 (2003), and State v. Demery, 144 Wn.2d 753, 30 P.3d 1278 (2001). However, Dolan is easily distinguished from the case at hand, because there the issue involved direct testimony at trial of a police officer and a social worker that implied an opinion of Dolan's guilt.

Demery, on the other hand, is much more similar to what happened in this case and the conclusion of the court was that there had not been impermissible opinion testimony presented at trial. Demery at 765.

The issue in Demery surrounded a recorded interview of Demery by police officers which contained a portion wherein the

officers confronted Demery with their opinion that he was lying. The recorded interview was subsequently played without redaction at trial. Id. at 756-757

The Demery court considered two things: whether the statements by police in the recorded interview was “opinion testimony” and for what purpose was that portion of the interview presented to the jury. Id. at 759 and 761. The court concluded that “[b]ecause the officers’ statements were not made under oath at trial, we conclude that they do not fall within the definition of opinion testimony for purposes of evidentiary prohibition.” Id. at 760.

The court also observed that the purpose of including that portion of the recorded interview in the presentation of evidence was to provide context and were admissible to impeach the defendant's credibility. Id. at 761.

This is precisely the situation with the case at hand, as the trial court observed that the state’s use of Appellant’s interview was to “[c]reate a case against him to impeach. That’s the whole purpose of what this trial is about.” RP 1644. An important part of the State’s case was taking Appellant’s false claims and demonstrating to the jury how that was proof of his guilt. Playing the video was integral in that effort. It should also be noted that

specific portions of the video that were objected by Appellant's trial counsel (advisement of rights, reference to polygraph and questions regarding why an attorney was needed) were not presented to the jury. CP 322.

4. Appellant did not receive ineffective assistance of counsel for failing to request a limiting instruction regarding the playing of the video of Appellant's interview to the jury.

Appellant next claims that he was deprived effective assistance of counsel because his trial attorney did not accept the trial court's offer to issue a limiting instruction regarding the portions of the recorded interview that are claimed to be impermissible opinion testimony.

A defendant claiming ineffective assistance of counsel must show both deficient performance and resulting prejudice. State v. Pearsall, 156 Wn.App. 357, 361, 231 P.3d 849 (2010), citing Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 689, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Courts engage in a strong presumption that counsel's representation was effective. State v. McFarland, 127 Wash.2d 322, 335, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995) citations omitted.

Appellant's trial counsel was not deficient in his performance for not getting a limiting instruction regarding these two portions of the recorded interview. It is true that "when the trial court admits

third party statements to provide context to a defendant's response, the trial court should give a limiting instruction to the theory, explaining that only the defendant's responses, and not the third party's statement should be considered as evidence." Demery at 761-762. However, in Demery and in the case at hand, "[s]uch a limiting instruction was not required in this case because the jury clearly understood from the officer's testimony that the statements were offered solely to provide context to the defendant's relevant statements." Id. at 762.

Should the court determine that not getting a limiting instruction was deficient performance there has been no showing by Appellant that he was prejudiced by it. Again, the Demery court made a distinction between opinion testimony given at trial by a police officer versus the jury hearing the officer's opinion as it is expressed to a defendant in a pretrial interview. Id. The former has an "aura of special reliability and trustworthiness" while the latter are "not the types of statements that carry any special aura of reliability." Id. at 763, citations omitted.

CONCLUSION

The trial court's exercise of discretion by allowing ER 404(b) evidence was reasonable and based upon the correct application of

law. Its analysis was conducted on the record and the appropriate limiting instruction was given to the jury.

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